

KMA
8/1/18
MOR
8/1/18

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
BETWEEN THE MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
AND THE
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
FOR A
SUCCESSOR AGREEMENT COVERING EMPLOYEES IN
BARGAINING UNIT A**

July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2020

This Memorandum of Understanding is entered between the Massachusetts Department of Transportation (“MassDOT or Employer”) and the National Association of Government Employees as the collective bargaining representative for employees in Bargaining Unit A. (the “Union”) Except as modified herein, the terms of the current agreement, including all previous memoranda of understanding, supplemental and side agreements, shall continue in effect. It is understood that the agreement reflected in this document is the result of mutual compromise. The withdrawal by either party of any proposal advanced during negotiations shall not be admitted in any proceeding to prejudice the position of the party who withdrew the proposal. The parties agree to use their best efforts to agree on a single integrated collective bargaining agreement that incorporates the modifications to the July 1, 2009 – June 30, 2012 collective bargaining between the Commonwealth and the Union as set forth in the Memorandum of Understanding for Successor Collective Bargaining Agreement for the period of July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2015 and the Memorandum of Understanding for Successor Collective Bargaining Agreement for the period of July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2017.

The parties agree to amend this MOU to incorporate any additional terms subsequently agreed by the Employer and the Coalition of MassDOT Unions for Units C and D amending **Article 7- Overtime, Article 15- Contracting Out**, or other Articles as may be agreed.

**ARTICLE 1
RECOGNITION**

Section 1.1

The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining representative of employees of MassDOT in the job titles, as set forth in the attached Addendum A. The parties acknowledge that any job title that was in existence on the effective date of this Agreement not appearing on Addendum A has been intentionally excluded.

In order to establish and maintain clear and concise employee/labor relations policy, the parties agree that the Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law, on behalf of the Secretary of Transportation, is solely responsible for the development and implementation of all labor and employee relations policies. Only the Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law has the authority to make commitments or agreements with respect to wages, hours, standards of

productivity, performance and any other terms and conditions of employment, with the Union the exclusive union representative for Bargaining Unit A.

KAC
MPL
8-1-

In addition to other seasonal employees the Employer may engage intermittent seasonal employees on a per diem basis from November 1 to April 15 each year to supplement staffing levels during the snow and ice operations.

Section 1.2

A. As used in this contract the term “employee” or “employees” shall include full-time, and a regular part-time **and temporary** persons employed by the **Commonwealth Employer** in job titles in the bargaining unit included in Section 1 above, and seasonal employees whose employment is for a period of ninety (90) consecutive days or more.

B. Exclusion:

1. all managerial and confidential employees;
2. all employees employed in short term jobs established by special federal or state programs such as summer jobs for underprivileged youths and;
3. all intermittent employees (except as defined by HRD Regulations); and
4. all “03” or “07” consultants in accordance with past practice and the understanding of the parties.

C. A full-time employee is defined as an employee who normally works a full workweek and whose employment is expected to continue for twelve (12) months or more, or an employee who normally works a full workweek and has been employed for twelve (12) consecutive months or more.

A regular part-time employee is defined as an employee who is expected to work fifty percent (50%) or more of the hours in a workweek of a regular full-time employee in the same title.

An intermittent employee is defined as an employee who is neither a full-time nor a regular part-time employee whose position has been designated as an intermittent position by **the Employer** ~~his/her Appointing Authority~~

A temporary employee is a full-time or regular part-time employee hired to work for the duration of a temporary vacancy or for a defined period of up to one year but not including persons employed as “03” or “07” consultants as provided in Section 1.2 B (4) above. Temporary employees shall serve a probationary period of nine (9) months. Upon expiration or earlier termination of their appointments, temporary employees shall be laid off without recourse to the layoff, bumping and recall provisions of the agreement.

*File
med
8-1-13*

**ARTICLE 3
UNION SECURITY**

Section 3.2

An employee may consent in writing to the authorization of the deduction of union dues from his/her wages and to the designation of the union as the recipient thereof. Such consent shall be in a form acceptable to the Employer and shall bear the signature of the employee. **The form may be completed on-line as an electronic form or completed, printed, and sent to the designated human resources officer.** An employee may withdraw his/her agency fee authorization by giving the Employer at least sixty (60) days written notice, or lesser notice as may otherwise be required by law. **The Employer will promptly notify the Union of any request to withdraw union dues authorization.**

Section 3.3

An employee may consent in writing to the authorization of the deductions of an agency fee from his/her wages and to the designation of the Union as the recipient thereof. Such consent shall be in a form, acceptable to the Employer, and shall bear the signature of the employee. **The form may be completed on-line as an electronic form or completed, printed, and sent to the designated human resources officer.** An employee may withdraw his/her agency fee authorization by giving the Employer at least sixty (60) days written notice, or lesser notice as may otherwise be required by law. **The Employer will promptly notify the Union of any request to withdraw agency service fee authorization.**

**ARTICLE 5
UNION BUSINESS**

Section 5.3 Paid Leave of Absence for Union Business

Leaves of absence without loss of wages, benefits or other privileges may be granted elected delegates to attend NAGE conventions and conventions of the State AFL – CIO and parent organizations. Persons designated as alternate delegates shall not be granted paid leaves of absence to attend such conventions. Such paid leave shall not exceed a total of 175 days per year.

Time off without loss of wages, benefits other privileges shall be granted to union negotiating committee members for attendance at negotiation sessions.

Time off without loss of wages, benefits other privileges shall be granted to representatives and officers of the union to attend joint labor management meetings.

Time off without loss of wages, benefits or other privileges shall be granted for not more than 35 hours per week to a combined total of four (4) union official equivalents from bargaining units A, C and D to assist the union president in conducting union business.

The Union will not request paid release time for Executive Board meetings more frequently than ten (10) work days per calendar year. The Union shall submit any request for paid union business leave for Executive Board Meetings not later than seven (7) calendar days in advance of the meeting date(s) and the Employer will respond not less than two (2) business days preceding the date of the Executive board meeting.

KW
MCP
8-1-12

The Employer, upon being provided sufficient advance notice by the Union, shall grant Union Stewards paid release time for the purposes of receiving training. This paid release time for training shall not exceed one (1) day in duration. The parties further agree that the Union will make this request of the Employer no more than once in any twelve (12) month period. No pyramiding of release time will be permitted.

All leave granted under this section shall require prior approval of the ~~Human Resources Division~~ **Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law**. Requests for ~~release time for the purpose of attending Union conventions~~ **all paid release time** must be made at least seven (7) calendar days in advance ~~of such convention~~ **unless agreed to by the parties**.

Section 5.4 Unpaid Union Leaves of Absence

Upon request by the Union, an employee shall be granted a leave of absence without pay to perform full-time official duties on behalf of the Union. Such leave of absence shall be for a period of up to one (1) year and may be extended for one (1) or more additional periods of one (1) year or less at the request of the Union. Approved requests will be granted by the ~~Employer Department/Agency head~~ **Employer** not to exceed one per each 1,000 employees in the bargaining unit provided no adverse effect on the operations of the ~~Department/Agency~~ **Employer** results.

Representatives and officers of the Union shall be granted leaves of absence without loss of benefits or other privileges (not including wages) to attend hearings before the Legislature and State agencies concerning matters of importance to the Union.

All leaves granted under this Section shall require prior approval of the ~~Human Resources Division~~ **Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law**. Requests for ~~unpaid leaves of absence for the purpose of attending Union conventions~~ **must be made at least seven (7) days in advance of such conventions**. **Requests for all unpaid release time must be made at least seven (7) calendar days in advance unless agreed to by the parties.**

Section 5.5 Union Uses of Premises

The Union shall be permitted to use facilities of the Employer for the transaction of Union business during working hours and to have reasonable use of the Employer's facilities during off duty hours for Union meetings subject to appropriate compensation if required by law. **Where practicable, Union officials shall provide the Employer with at least one (1) day advanced notice of such use.** This Section shall not be interpreted to grant an employee the right to carry on Union business during his/her own working hours, not granted elsewhere in the contract.

K W
M U L
8-1-

ARTICLE 6
ANTI-DISCRIMINATION AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

Section 6.1

The Employer and the Union agree not to discriminate in any way against employees covered by this Agreement on account of race, religion, creed, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, age, ethnicity, mental or physical handicap, union activity, gender identity, gender expression, military or veteran status.

Section 6.2

The Union and the Employer agree that when the effects of employment practices, regardless of their intent, discriminate against any group of people on the basis of race, religion, creed, color, age, sex, national origin, or mental or physical disability, or being a Vietnam Era Veteran, specific positive and aggressive measures must be taken to redress the effects of past discrimination, to eliminate present and future discrimination, to ensure equal opportunity in the areas of hiring, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment, layoff or termination, rate of compensation and in-service or apprenticeship training programs. Therefore the parties acknowledge the need for positive and aggressive affirmative action **including** the granting of **reasonable accommodations to disabled individuals**.

Section 6.3

The Statewide Labor/Management Committee established pursuant to ARTICLE 26 shall give priority to the area of affirmative action and **reasonable accommodation**. The Committee shall review affirmative action programs and shall devote its best efforts to alleviating any obstacles that are found to exist to the implementation of the policy and commitments contained in the Governor's Executive Order No. 116 dated May 1, 1975 or as subsequently amended or in Governor's Executive Order #253 (1988) or as subsequently amended.

Section 6.4

The provisions contained in Article 14 and Article 18 shall not be construed to impede the implementation of affirmative action programs **or reasonable accommodations** developed by the **Employer department/agencies** in accordance with goals set forth in this Article.

Section 6.5

The Employer and the Union acknowledge that sexual harassment is a form of unlawful sex discrimination, and the parties mutually agree that no employee should be subjected to such harassment. The term sexual harassment as used herein is conduct such as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature which constitutes sexual harassment when:

- A. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment;
- B. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or

- C. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.

K. Don
MCL
8-1-1

ARTICLE 6A MUTUAL RESPECT

The Commonwealth and the Union agree that mutual respect between and among managers, employees, co-workers and supervisors is integral to the efficient conduct of the Commonwealth's business. Behaviors that contribute to a hostile, humiliating and/or intimidating work environment, including abusive language or behavior, are unacceptable and will not be tolerated. Employees who believe they are subject to such behavior, ~~and who want to pursue the matter~~, shall raise their concerns with an appropriate manager or supervisor as soon as possible, but no later than ninety (90) days from the most recent **occurrence(s) incidents(s)**. **Employees who want to formally pursue the matter must file a written complaint which identifies the behaviors including specific examples believed to cause the hostile, humiliating and/or intimidating work environment.**

The written complaint shall be investigated by the Employee Relations Unit or other Employer designated body which shall make recommendations to the Employer for correcting any unacceptable and/or unprofessional behaviors identified by the investigation. The Complainant shall be notified of the steps taken to address the Complainants concerns.

In the event the employee(s) **written complaint** ~~concerns have been formally raised at the agency level and are~~ is not addressed within a reasonable period of time, the employee and/or the Union may file a grievance at step **III II** of the grievance procedure as set forth in Article 23 (~~notice shall be sent concurrently to the Agency Head or designee~~). If the employee, (or the Union) requests a hearing at Step **III II** such hearing shall be granted. Grievances filed under this section shall not be subject to the arbitration provisions set forth in Article 23. No employee shall be subject to **discrimination retaliation** for filing a complaint, giving a statement, or otherwise participating in the administration of this process.

**ARTICLE 7
WORKWEEK AND WORK SCHEDULES**

*KIM
M. CL
8-1-*

Section 7.1 Scheduled Hours, Workweek, Workday

- A. Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, the regular hours of work for full-time employees shall be thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours per week excluding duty free meal periods or forty (40) hours per week excluding duty free meal periods, as has been established for that job title at the particular job location. Any employee whose regular workweek has averaged more than forty (40) hours excluding meal periods in the past shall have a forty (40) hour workweek. **The Employer may establish a forty (40) hour workweek for new employees and shall meet with the Union in advance to discuss the manner by which current employees who desire to work 40 hours will transition from a thirty seven and one half (37.5) hour workweek to a forty (40) hour workweek. In the event an employee workweek changes from 37.5 to 40 hours all leave credits will be adjusted to reflect the change. Employees who work a forty hour week will be compensated for the additional 2.5 hours at the 37.5 hour rate.**
- B. The work schedule, both starting times and quitting times, of employees shall be posted on a bulletin board at each work location or otherwise made available to employees and Union stewards.
- C. When the Employer desires to change the shift or day off of an employee, the Employer shall, whenever practicable, give the affected employee ten (10) days written notice.
- D. To the extent practicable, the normal work week shall consist of **no more than** five (5) consecutive days, ~~Monday through Friday~~, **and to the extent practicable with the** regular hours of work each day shall to be consecutive except for duty free meal periods. **The Employer may establish a workday of up to 12.5 hours exclusive of meal breaks.** Similarly, to the extent practicable, employees in continuous operations shall receive two (2) consecutive days off in each seven (7) day period. This subsection shall not apply to employees in authorized flexible hours programs.

Section 7.2 Overtime

- A. An employee shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half his/her regular rate of pay for authorized overtime work performed in excess of forty (40) hours per week.
- B. An employee whose regularly scheduled workweek is less than forty (40) hours shall be compensated at his/her regular rate for authorized overtime work performed up to forty (40) hours per week that is in excess of his/her regular workweek.

8-1-1

C. Compensatory time off in lieu of pay for overtime shall not be granted to employees except as provided in Section 7.2.G. The Employer shall not, for the purpose of avoiding the payment of overtime, curtail the scheduled hours of an employee during the remainder of a workweek in which the employee has previously worked hours beyond his/her normally scheduled workday. This Paragraph shall not apply to employees who, because of the nature of the duties of their positions, work an irregular workday, nor shall it apply to employees who have been permitted by the Employer to participate in an approved voluntary flexible hours program that has been duly authorized by the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** and by the ~~Chief Human Resources Officer~~ **Director of Human Resources**.

- D. 1. With the exception of paid sick leave, all time for which an employee is on full paid leave status shall be considered time worked for the purpose of calculating overtime compensation.
2. However, an employee who uses sick leave during the same work week in which he/she works mandatory overtime shall have the opportunity to replace up to three (3) shifts per fiscal year of sick leave with his/her available personal leave, vacation leave, accrued compensatory time or holiday compensatory time.

E. There shall be no duplication or pyramiding of the premium pay for overtime work provided for in this Agreement.

F. Employees who are engaged in special kinds of activities where scheduling of such work during regularly scheduled hours is not feasible, shall not be paid overtime on a weekly basis but may be given compensatory time off for such overtime work.

G. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph C of this Section 7.2, upon the request of an employee ~~an Appointing Authority~~ **the Employer** shall grant compensatory time in lieu of payment for overtime at a rate of not less than one and a half hours for each hour of employment for which overtime compensation would be required under this Article. This shall be designated on the overtime form supplied by the Employer.

Such compensatory time shall not be accumulated in excess of one hundred ~~twenty (120)~~ **ninety (90)** hours and may be utilized in half hour increments.

~~An Appointing Authority~~ **The Employer** shall permit the use of compensatory time at the employee's request, provided the use of compensatory time does not unduly disrupt the operation of a department or agency. Upon termination an employee shall be paid for all unused compensatory time at the final regular rate of pay.

H. The Employer shall make every effort to send out checks for overtime no later than the second payroll period following the payroll period of the overtime worked.

- I. Overtime shall be distributed as equitably and impartially as practicable among persons in each work location who ordinarily perform such related work in the normal course of their workweek. Department heads and union representatives at each location shall work out procedures for implementing this policy of distributing overtime work.
- J. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to employees on full travel status.

11/15
MCP
8-1-

Section 7.3 Regular Meal Periods

A ~~forty-five minute meal~~ period shall be scheduled as close to the middle of the shift as possible considering the needs of the Employer and the needs of the employee. Employees in the Registry of Motor Vehicles may **with the Employer's approval** elect to reduce their lunch break to 30 minutes and shall receive **either** compensatory time or regular pay for the additional time worked. **Employees shall not reduce the length of the work day by working through a meal break without the prior approval of the employee's supervisor.**

Section 7.4 Rest Periods

Employees shall be allowed two (2) rest periods of up to fifteen minutes per workday. **Rest periods may not be used to either extend the meal break or reduce the length of the work day without prior approval of the employee's supervisor.**

Section 7.5 Time Keeping

Employees may be required to record their daily arrival and departure times as well as the start and end time of all breaks and meal periods in a form and manner, **including by mechanical or electronic means**, as determined by the Employer which shall, to the extent reasonably practicable, be uniform. **Employees shall not be required to record their arrival, departure and break times using more than a single method of timekeeping.**

Section 7.5 Call Back Pay

- A. An employee who has left his/her place of employment after having completed his/her regular shift, and who is called back to a work place prior to the commencement of his/her next scheduled shift shall receive a minimum of four hours pay at his/her regular hourly overtime rate. For the purpose of this Section, a "work place" is defined as any place other than the employee's home or to which he/she is required to report for work.

An employee who is called back must remain available for, and respond to any subsequent call during the four hour period. If the employee is called back during the same four hour period, s/he shall not receive additional compensation above the four (4) hours of pay, unless the subsequent call extends beyond the initial four hours, in which case s/he shall be paid for the additional time worked on an hour for hour basis at the overtime rate. An employee who refuses or fails to respond to a second or subsequent call during the four hour period, shall not be paid the four hour minimum, unless it is unreasonable under the circumstances to require s/he to respond.

This Section shall not apply to an employee who is called in to start his/her shift early and who continues to work that shift.

KDD
MCR
8-1-

- B. An employee who is called back to work as outlined above but is not called back to a work place shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at his/her regular overtime rate. In situations where an employee fulfills his/her call back assignment through the use of an electronic communication device such as a telephone, or "networked" computer or **mobile device**, the employee shall receive a minimum of one hour (1) for assignments received before 11:00 p.m. and two (2) hour for such assignments received on or after 11:00 p.m. For the purpose of this Section, a "work place" is defined as any place other than the employee's home to which he/she is required to report to fulfill the assignment. **The Employer may require the employee to maintain and provide a complete and accurate written account of the work performed during a call back assignment.**

Section 7.8 Weekend Differentials

- A. Effective July 9, 2006, in addition to any other compensation to which they may be entitled, a premium of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour shall be paid to all Unit + **D** employees who are regularly scheduled to work on either a Saturday or a Sunday, provided that no employee shall receive said differential for more than one (1) day **or shift** worked per **weekend not to exceed 7.5 or 8 hours.**
- B. Employees otherwise entitled to a weekend differential under this Section shall receive the differential for days they are on paid leave status, including holidays, up to the maximum of one (1) full day **or shift** per week **not to exceed 7.5 or 8 hours.**

ARTICLE 8
LEAVE

MCE
MCR
8-14

Section 8.7.2 Family And Medical Leave

A. Family Leave

1. Employer shall grant to a full time or part time employee who has **been employed** ~~completed his/her probationary period, or if there is no such probationary period,~~ ~~has been employed for at least~~ **nine (9)** ~~three~~ consecutive months **preceding the commencement of the leave**, an unpaid leave of absence for up to ~~twenty-six (26) weeks~~ **twenty (20) weeks** in conjunction with the birth, adoption or placement of a child as long as the leave concludes within twelve (12) months following the birth or placement. The ability to take leave ceases when a foster placement ceases unless the need for the additional leave is directly connected to the previous placement.
2. At least thirty (30) days in advance, the employee shall submit to the Employer a written notice of his/her intent to take such leave and the dates and expected duration of such leave. If thirty (30) days' notice is not possible, the employee shall give notice as soon as practicable. The employee shall provide upon request by the Employer proof of the birth or placement or adoption of a child.
3. If an employee has accrued sick leave, personal leave, compensatory leave, or vacation credits at the commencement of his/her family leave, the employee ~~may~~ **shall** use such leave credits for which s/he may be eligible under the sick leave, personal leave or vacation provisions of this Agreement. The Employer may, in his/her discretion, assign an employee to temporarily backfill for an employee who is on family leave. Such assignment may not be subject to the grievance procedure.
4. At the expiration of the family leave, the employee shall be returned to the same or equivalent position with the same status, pay and length of service credit as of the date of his/her leave. If during the period of the leave, employees in an equivalent position have been laid off through no fault of their own, the employee will be extended the same rights or benefits, if any extended to employees of equal length of service in the equivalent position in the department.
5. Employees taking an unpaid leave of absence under this provision will accrue sick and vacation leave benefits only for the first eight (8) weeks of such unpaid leave. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Agreement to the contrary, the family leave granted under this Article shall not affect an employee's right to receive any **other** contractual benefits for which s/he was eligible at the time of his/her leave.

6. During the time an employee is on family leave, the employee shall be entitled to group health insurance coverage benefits on the same terms and conditions in effect at the time the leave began, provided the employee continues to pay the required employee share of premium while on leave. If the employee fails to return from leave, MassDOT may recover, as provided under FMLA, the cost it incurred in maintaining insurance coverage under its group health plan for the duration of the employee's leave.
7. During family leave taken in conjunction with the birth, adoption or placement of a child, an employee shall receive his/her salary for ten (10) days of said leave, at a time requested by the employee. In the case of multiple births, such as twins or triplets, paid leave will not exceed (10) ten days. For cases of foster placement, if the placement is for less than 10 days, the number of paid days shall equal the number of work days that fall within the placement time period. The ten (10) days of paid family leave granted under this Section may be used on an intermittent basis over the twelve (12) months following the birth or adoption, except that this leave may not be charged in increments of less than one (1) day. In addition, if the employee has accrued sick leave, vacation leave or personal leave credits available, the employee may use such credits for which he/she may otherwise be eligible under the sick leave, personal leave, or vacation leave provisions of this Agreement. The ten (10) days of paid leave granted under this Section shall be prorated for regular part-time employees.

mm
med
8-1-1

B. Medical Leave

1. The Employer shall grant to any **full-time or part-time** employees who has ~~completed his/her probationary period or, if there is no probationary period,~~ who has been employed at least **nine (9)** ~~three (3)~~ consecutive months **preceding the commencement of the leave** an unpaid leave of absence for up to ~~twenty-six (26)~~ **twenty** weeks to care for a spouse, child or parent who has a serious health condition or for a serious health condition which prevents the employee from being able to perform the functions of his/her position. For this accompanying regulations, 29 C.F.R. Part 825, the Employer will request medical certification at the time the employee gives notice of the need for the leave or within five business days thereafter, or in the case of the unforeseen leave, within five business days after the leave commences. In the event of an unanticipated illness, an employee who returns to work within eight (8) working days of the beginning of their absence will not be required to return from D1 to his/her employer.

gac
mfl
8-1-11

~~2.3.~~ At least thirty days in advance, the employee shall submit a written notice of his/her intent to take such leave and the dates and expected duration of such leave. If thirty (30) day notice is not possible, the employee shall give notice as soon as practicable. The employee shall provide, upon request by the Employer, satisfactory medical evidence. Satisfactory medical evidence is defined under Section 1.K.2 of this Article. An employee requesting medical leave shall complete the Department's FMLA form and submit it to the Employer. If the Employer has reason to question the validity of the medical evidence, it may obtain a second opinion at its own expense. In the event there is a conflict between the second opinion and the original medical opinion, the Employer and the employee may resolve the conflict by obtaining the opinion of a third medical provider, who is approved jointly by the Employer and employee, at the Employer's expense. When there is no agreement on the third medical provider, if the fault lies with the Employer, then the first medical opinion controls. If the employee is at fault, then the second medical opinion controls. Pending receipt of a second or third medical opinion, the employee shall be provisionally entitled to the leave. If the employee fails to authorize his/her medical provider to release all relevant medical information to the second (or third) medical provider, then the employer may deny the FMLA leave until the employee provides such authorization.

~~2.3.~~ Upon submission of satisfactory medical evidence that demonstrates an existing catastrophic illness, the Appointing Authority shall grant the employee on a one-time basis, up to an additional twenty-six (26) weeks of non-intermittent leave.

~~3.4.~~ Intermittent leave usage and modified work schedules may be granted where a spouse, child or parent has a serious health condition and is dependent upon the employee for care, or for the serious health condition which prevents the employee from being able to perform the functions of his/her position.

Effective October 1, 2014 for new requests of intermittent FMLA and effective January 1, 2015 for employees currently on FMLA, employees who provide satisfactory medical documentation to support an intermittent FMLA may utilize up to 60 days of their FMLA allotment provided for in Section 8 (B) (1) for intermittent absences. Where intermittent or a modified work schedule is medically necessary, the employee and Employer shall attempt to work out a schedule which meets the employee's needs without unduly disrupting the operations of the workplace. Such modified work schedules may include full time continuous leave, a change in job responsibilities, or an alternative work option or a continuation of the intermittent leave beyond the sixty (60) days if operations allow provided the employee has not exhausted the ~~26~~ 20 weeks of FMLA leave allowed within the previous 52 week period.

KHO
MCA
8-1-

At the expiration of the intermittent medical leave, modified work schedule, or job assignment that was agreed upon, the employee shall be returned to the same or equivalent position with the same status, pay and length of service credit as of the date of his/her leave.

In the event that no alternative is agreed upon and if the employer believes that operations are being unduly disrupted, the employer will give written notice to the Union and employee of the intent to terminate the intermittent leave.

In such an event, no employee who then requests full time continuous leave and who is otherwise eligible shall be denied such leave as long as they provide medical documentation supporting an FMLA qualifying illness. Such leaves will be limited to the remainder of the ~~26~~ 20 weeks of available FMLA leave and based upon their intermittent determination shall not be eligible for the catastrophic leave extension.

The Employer shall maintain the ability to transfer an employee to an alternative position with no reduction of pay or benefits in order to avoid disruption of operations so as long as the transfer is reasonable and not meant to discourage the use of intermittent leave. Wherever practicable an employee who transfers pursuant to this paragraph shall be given 10 days' notice of such transfer.

In the event that the employer gives notice of its intent to terminate the intermittent leave, and the affected employee does not wish to access any remaining full-time leave benefits as described above, the Union may request expedited impartial review by an arbitrator to determine whether the Employer has made a reasonable attempt to accommodate the need of the employee's intermittent leave beyond the sixty (60) days and whether or not the leave unduly disrupts operations. Said review must be requested within 10 calendar days of the notification that the leave will be terminated. The status quo ante shall be preserved pending the decision of the arbitrator, unless the proceedings are unreasonably delayed due to the part of the Union or the Employee.

The parties shall meet upon execution of the agreement to establish the review/arbitration process noted above. Such proceedings shall be informal in accordance with the rules to be agreed upon by the parties. The parties shall develop a form to be used as notice to the Union and employee of the intent to terminate intermittent leave.

KDW
KDW
8-12

- 4. ~~5.~~ If the employee has accrued sick leave, personal leave, compensatory leave, or vacation leave credits at the commencement of his/her medical leave, that employee ~~may~~ **shall** use such leave credits for which s/he may be eligible under the sick leave, personal leave, or vacation leave provisions of this Agreement. **The Employer may in its discretion assign an employee to temporarily backfill for an employee who is on family or medical leave or hire a temporary replacement and such assignment or hire shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.**
- 5. ~~6.~~ At the expiration of the medical leave, the employee shall be returned to the same equivalent position with the same status, pay and length of service credit as of the date of her/his leave. If during the period of the leave, employees in an equivalent position have been laid off through no fault of their own, the Employer will extend the same rights or benefits, if any, extended to employees of equal length of service in the equivalent position in the department.
- 6. ~~7.~~ Between periods of unpaid medical leave, where an employee returns to the payroll for a period of less than two (2) weeks, when a holiday falls during that time, no holiday pay or compensatory time shall be granted for such holiday.
- 7. ~~8.~~ During the time an employee is on medical leave, the employee shall be entitled to group health insurance coverage benefits on the same terms and conditions in effect at the time the leave began, provided the employee continues to pay the required employee share of premium while on leave. If the employee fails to return from leave, the Commonwealth may recover the cost it incurred in maintaining insurance coverage under its group health plan for the duration of the employees leave, in compliance with the requirements set forth under the FMLA and regulations thereunder.

C. **The total amount of Family Leave and Medical Leave available to employees under this section shall not exceed 20 weeks in a 12 month period.**

KAC
MCP
8-7

Section 8.8 Non-FMLA Family Leave

- A. Upon written application to the Employer, including a statement of any reasons, any ~~employee who has completed his/her probationary period, or if there is no probationary period~~ who has been employed at least ~~three (3)~~ **nine (9)** consecutive months who has given at least two (2) weeks prior notice of his/her anticipated date of departure and who has given notice of his/her intention to return, may be granted non-FMLA family leave for a period not exceeding ten (10) weeks. Such leave shall be without pay or benefits for such period. The Employer may, in his/her discretion, assign an employee to temporarily back fill for an employee who is on non-FMLA family leave. Such assignment may not be subject to the grievance procedure. The purpose for which an employee may submit his/her application for such unpaid leave shall be limited to the need to care for, or to make arrangements for care of grandparent, grandchild, sister or brother living in the same household, or child whether or not the child (or children) is natural, adoptive, foster, stepchild, or child under the legal guardianship of the employee.
- B. Ten (10) days of non-FMLA family leave may be taken in not less than one half day increments. However, such leave requires the prior approval of the **Employer** ~~Appointing Authority~~ or his/her designee.
- C. If an employee has accrued sick leave, personal leave, compensatory leave, or vacation leave credits at the commencement of her/his non-FMLA family leave, that employee ~~may~~ **shall** use such leave credits for which s/he may be eligible under the sick leave, personal leave, or vacation leave provisions of this agreement.
- D. Between periods of non-FMLA family leave, where an employee returns to the payroll for less than two weeks, when a holiday falls during that time, no holiday pay or compensatory time shall be granted for such holiday.

Section 8.9 Catastrophic Illness/Injury Leave

Upon submission of satisfactory medical evidence that demonstrates an existing catastrophic illness or injury, the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** shall grant the employee on a one-time basis, up to an additional ~~twenty-six (26) weeks~~ **32 weeks** of non-intermittent non-FMLA leave. **A catastrophic illness or injury is a severe or life threatening condition that requires prolonged recovery or hospitalization and that totally incapacitates the employee from working.**

Section 8.10 Educational Leave

Employees may be granted a paid leave of absence in accordance with the policies of the Employer for educational purposes to attend conferences, seminars, briefing sessions or other functions of a similar nature that are intended to improve or upgrade the individual's skill or professional ability. The employee shall not suffer any loss of seniority or benefits as a result of such leave.

Based on the operational needs of the department, Employees enrolled in a degree program may be granted an unpaid leave of absence(s) up to (12) twelve months for course work required by the program. The decision to approve or deny any request for a leave of absence shall not be subject to the grievance procedure as outlined in Article 23, and shall not be arbitrable.

KU
K. C. H.
8-7-1

ARTICLE 9
VACATIONS

ka
will
8-1-17

Section 9.2 (New)

- C. Employees hired on or after January 1, 2019 with at least 4.5 years of prior relevant work experience at the time of hire, shall begin to accrue vacation credits at the rate of 4.326975 hours (75/biweekly) or 4.61544 hours (80/biweekly). Employees will remain at this accrual rate until they reach 9.5 years of creditable service with the Employer. Prior relevant work experience is work experience in the same or a related field or profession using the same or similar skills.

The Employer will notify new employees in writing at the time of hire that they may request credit for prior relevant work experience. Employees shall have six months from the date of notification to file a request for such credit. If approved, the accrual shall be effective the date the request is filed.

Section 9.8

The ~~Employer Appointing Authority~~ shall grant vacation leave in the vacation year in which it becomes available, unless in his/her its opinion it is impossible or impracticable to do so because of work schedules or emergencies. In cases where the vacation requests by employees in the same title conflict, preference, subject to the operational needs of the Department/Agency, shall be given to employees on the basis of years of service with the Commonwealth MassDOT.

Unused vacation leave earned during the previous two (2) vacation years can be carried over to the new calendar year beginning with the first full pay period in January for use during the following vacation year. Annual earned vacation leave credit not used by the last full pay period inclusive of December 31 of the second year it was earned will be forfeited.

All vacation requests must be approved in advance by the Employer. ~~The department head is charged with the responsibility of seeing that vacation is taken in order that the employee does not lose vacation credits. Each employee who does not have access to Self Service Time and Attendance "SSTA" shall receive annually, on or before October 1, as of September 1, a preliminary statement of the available vacation credits from the local office. A central office statement shall be forthcoming to each work location by October 31 for dissemination to each employee.~~

The parties recognize the need to ensure the granting of personal leave, vacation, holiday and compensatory time when it is requested and as it becomes available. Towards this end the department heads and ~~union representatives~~ **Local Union President** at each work location shall work out procedures for implementing this policy of granting time off.

Section 9.9

Absences on account of sickness in excess of the authorized sick leave provided in the Agreement may be charged to vacation leave upon request of the employee and subsequent approval by the Employer, which will not be unreasonably withheld, **except that no employee on "NOP" within the three (3) months of the absence shall be permitted to charge an absence due to illness as vacation time, unless the NOP occurred during FMLA leave.**

Law
Muf
8-7-11

ARTICLE 11 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES

Section 11.1

- A. When an employee is authorized to use his/her personal automobile for travel related to his/her employment he/she shall be reimbursed at the rate of forty (\$0.40) cents per mile.

Mileage shall be determined by the odometer reading on the motor vehicle, but may be subject to review for reasonableness by the Employer who shall use a Web-based service as a guide.

Effective July 10, 2005, employees shall be reimbursed for reasonable associated costs for parking and tolls for authorized travel.

- B. An employee who travels from his/her home to a temporary assignment rather than to his/her regularly assigned office shall be allowed transportation expenses **including mileage reimbursement** for ~~the any additional~~ the distance between his/her home and his/her temporary assignment and his/her regularly assigned office and his/her temporary assignment, **if any**.
- C. Employees shall not be reimbursed for commuting between their home and office or other regular work location. With the approval of ~~the Personnel Administrator~~ **Director of Human Resources** an employee's home may be designated as his/her regular office by his/her ~~appointing authority~~ **department head** for the purposes of allowed transportation expenses in cases where the employee has no regular office or other work location.

Section 11.4

Reimbursement of any employee expenses pursuant to this Article shall be contingent upon the submission of requests within reasonable timeframes established by the ~~Employer Appointing Authority~~ **Employer**. The Employer shall reimburse the employee within the same reasonable time frames absent exigent circumstances.

ARTICLE 12
SALARY RATES

KA
Myl
8-7-1

Section 12.1

The following shall apply to full-time employees:

A. ~~Effective January 11, 2015 the first full pay period in July 2017~~ employees who meet the eligibility criteria provided in Section 2 of this Article shall receive a ~~3~~ **1%** increase in salary rate ~~or the annualized amount of one thousand seven hundred dollars to the base wage whichever is greater.~~

1. **If FY 2018 tax revenues equal or exceed \$27.072 billion, then, effective the first full pay period in July, 2017, employees shall receive an additional increase of "up to" one percent (1%) in salary rate.**

The terms, "state tax revenues," "budgeted revenues," and "budgetary funds" shall have the meanings assigned to those terms in M.G.L., Ch. 29, sec. 1.

For the purposes of this section, "tax revenues" shall mean, for any given fiscal year, state tax revenues that count as budgeted revenues in the budgetary funds, as reported by the Commissioner of Revenue on a preliminary basis in July following the end of the fiscal year, subject to any final technical adjustments made prior to August 31. Tax revenues shall include taxes that are transferred to the Commonwealth's Pension Liability Fund, the Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority State and Local Contribution Fund, the School Modernization and Reconstruction Trust Fund and the Workforce Training Fund.

B. ~~Effective October 4, 2015 the first full pay period of July, 2018,~~ employees who meet the eligibility criteria provided in Section 2 of this Article shall receive a ~~3%~~ **two percent (2%)** increase in salary rate ~~or the annualized amount of one thousand seven hundred dollars to the base wage whichever is greater.~~

C. ~~Effective July 10, 2016 the first full pay period of July, 2019,~~ employees who meet the eligibility criteria provided in Section 2 of this Article shall receive a ~~3%~~ **two percent (2%)** increase in salary rate ~~or the annualized amount of one thousand seven hundred dollars to the base wage whichever is greater.~~

D. The salary charts shall be will be adjusted to reflect the above adjustments.

for
ump
8-2-1

Section 12.2

~~In addition to the wage increases provided above, the Employer shall make available the following:~~

~~A. In FY 2015 an amount equal to .025% of the total base wage payroll for the bargaining unit as of June 30, 2014 to fund benefits, other than across the board wage increases, as agreed by the Employer and Union.~~

~~B. In FY 2016 an amount equal to .025% of the total base wage payroll for the bargaining unit as of June 30, 2014 to fund benefits, other than across the board wage increases, as agreed by the Employer and Union.~~

~~C. In FY 2017 an amount equal to .025% of the total base wage payroll for the bargaining unit as of June 30, 2014 to fund benefits, other than across the board wage increases, as agreed by the Employer and Union.~~

~~The Employer and Union shall meet as soon as practicable after ratification of the Agreement to negotiate the application and use of the funds made available under this Section.~~

Section 12.2

Employees who receive a "Below" rating on their annual EPRS evaluation shall not be eligible to receive the salary increases provided in Section 12.1 of this article, nor any step increases. Employees who receive a "Below" rating will have their performance reviewed on a monthly basis in accordance with article 24A of this Agreement and will become eligible for their salary and step rate increase previously denied effective upon the date of receiving a "Meets" or "Exceeds" rating.

Section 12.3

The salary rate for new employees shall be Step I for the job group of his/her position except that in cases where a new employee is hired at salary rate approved by the Director of Human Resources above Step I. New employees shall not be recruited into Unit A positions without the prior written agreement of the union.

Section 12.4

Whenever an employee paid in accordance with the salary schedules provided in Appendix A of this Agreement receives a promotion to a higher job group, the employee's new salary rate shall be calculated as follows:

1. For employees who are below the maximum step within their current job:
 - a. Determine the employee's current salary rate and step within his/her current job group; then

- For
Kell
8-1-1*
- b. Find the salary rate of the next higher step within the employee's current job group; and
 - c. Multiply the employee's current salary rate by one and three one-hundredths (1.03); then
 - d. Compare the higher of the resultant amounts from b) or c) above to the salary rates for the higher job group into which the employee is being promoted.
 - e. The employee's salary rate shall be the first rate in the higher job group that at least equals the higher of the resultant amounts from d) above.
 - f. **For promotions after October 1, 2018 if the application of the above formula results in a salary that is less than the amount the employee would receive had he/she been promoted to the next lower grade, the employee's salary upon promotion shall be increased to the next higher step in the grade the employee is being promoted into.**
 - g. **An employee who is not at the terminal step in their grade and has been in their current step for at least nine (9) months at the time of a promotion shall be advanced one (1) step in the new job grade after the promotional factor is applied.**

Section 12.10 Overpayments

When the Employer determines that an employee has been overpaid, it shall notify the employee and shall recover such overpayment over the same period of time in which the employee was overpaid unless the employer and the employee agree to another arrangement. A repayment schedule requested by the employee shall not be unreasonably denied. Any outstanding amounts owed at the time of separation will be withheld from the employee's final paycheck and/or from amounts due the employee for unused sick, compensatory or vacation time.

ARTICLE 13B TUITION REMISSION

Full-time employees shall be eligible for tuition remission as follows: **(For the UMass system, "tuition remission" is defined as the "student tuition credit").**

- A. For enrollment in any state-supported course or program at the undergraduate or graduate level at any Community College, State College or State University excluding the M. D. Program at the University of Massachusetts Medical School and the J.D. Program at the University of Massachusetts Law School, full tuition remission shall apply.

KA
MCH
8-7-

- B. For enrollment in any non-state supported course or program offered through continuing education at any Community College, State College or State University, excluding the M. D. Program at the University of Massachusetts Medical School and the J.D. Program at the University of Massachusetts Law School, fifty percent (50%) tuition remission shall apply.
- C. Remission benefit is subject to space available and usual and ordinary admission policies. It is also subject to the approval of the Board of Higher Education and the policies and procedures of same.
- D. A committee shall be established to evaluate the experience of this program and to consider possible extension of the program and to make recommendations concerning both.
- E. Effective July 1, 1997, spouses of full time employees shall be eligible for the remission benefits contained in this Article and subject to the other provisions of this Article. It is understood that any program of spousal eligibility developed by the Board of Higher Education in conjunction with the Commonwealth Human Resources division require the subordination of spousal eligibility rights to those remission benefit rights extended to full time state employees in different bargaining units as well as full time employees covered by the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 14 PROMOTIONS

Section 14.1

A promotion shall mean an advancement to a higher salary grade within a **Division**. ~~the jurisdiction of the employee's Department/Agency except where there is more than one appointing authority in the Department/Agency a promotion shall mean an advancement to a higher salary grade within the jurisdiction of the employee's appointing authority.~~ This Article is applicable to all promotions except those reasonably anticipated to be for less than one year and its application in all cases is restricted to employees who possess the educational, training, and/or experience requirements established by the ~~Chief Human Resources Officer~~ **Human Resources Division or Employer** for appointment to the relevant position.

Where the Union files a grievance over the non-selection of an employee(s), the Union shall be limited to advancing to arbitration the grievance of one (1) non-selected employee per vacancy or class action. The Union shall identify such grievant in writing at the time of filing its demand for arbitration. The Arbitrator shall not have the authority to select the successful candidate for the position but shall be limited to an order re-posting the position and re-considering candidates from the original pool of applicants, except if the Employer re-selects the original successful candidate following an order to repost the position and the arbitrator finds a new violation of Article 14. If a redetermination of the selection process is ordered, it shall be limited to the original pool of applicants.

This Article shall apply when promoting full-time employees to positions other than positions to be filled by appointment from a civil service eligible list.

KAC
M
8-1

In the event that a Civil Service examination for a position has been administered but scores have not been announced, the Appointing Authority shall initially restrict eligibility for application for promotion to such position to those employees who have taken the examination. In the event that Civil Service has published an eligible list of those who passed a Civil Service examination for a position but has not certified said list, the Appointing Authority shall initially restrict eligibility for application for promotion to such position to those who passed said examination.

All vacancies, excluding those reasonably anticipated to be for less than one (1) year, shall be posted but will not limit the Employer from hiring from outside the ~~Department/Agency~~ **Division** after all applicants within the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Division** have been considered. **Where more than one internal applicant meets the minimum entrance requirements for the position** ~~The Department/Agency~~ **the Employer shall interview at least three (3) internal applicants for each vacancy, and** may receive applications from persons outside the ~~Department/Agency~~ **Division** or bargaining unit. In the event a person is hired from outside the ~~Department/Agency~~ **Division**, or bargaining unit such action shall be subject to the grievance procedure through Step III as provided by Article 23 of the Agreement if the Union alleges such employee does not meet the minimum requirements for the vacancy as determined by the ~~Chief Human Resources Officer~~ **Human Resources Division or Employer.**

- A. The following factors in priority order shall be used by the ~~appointing authority~~ **Employer** or his designee in selecting the employee for a promotion:
 - 1. Ability to do the job as determined by, but not limited to:
 - a. Experience and competence (job performance) in the same or related work
 - b. Education and training related to the vacant position
 - 2. Seniority, as measured by length of service within the ~~appointing authority~~ **Division.**
 - 3. Work history.

- B. For promotions made pursuant to this article, the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** shall consider applicants and post promotional opportunities, within the ~~Division~~ **Appointing Authority's jurisdiction.** The employer shall notify all applicants in writing **of the name of the person selected and on the non-selection form provided herein of the reasons for non-selection.** ~~and shall post the name of the person selected to fill the position.~~

- C. The provisions of Section B and Section 2 of this Article shall apply to all Bargaining Unit ~~± A~~ **positions except approved managerial and confidential exclusions, disputed managerial and confidential exclusions and positions. covered by the provisions of Chapter 14, Section 4 of the General Laws.**

FA
WALP
8-7-

Section 14.2

A. Positions to be filled under the provisions of this Article shall be posted throughout the appropriate work unit(s) for ten (10) calendar days. **Postings may be made by electronic means in any work unit(s) where employees have access to email.** ~~In like manner the employer shall post the name of the person selected to fill the position.~~ The Union shall be furnished copies of all such positions. The ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** may reasonably determine the positions in which employees must be employed and/or the requisite experience the employees must possess in order to be eligible to apply for a given promotion. ~~Employees on sick leave, vacation leave or authorized leave of absence for periods in excess of ten (10) calendar days, shall be mailed copies of those postings for which they are determined eligible to apply, provided the employee has requested in writing, for each period of absence in excess of ten (10) calendar days, that the appointing authority furnish these postings.~~

~~Employees normally assigned to the field for periods in excess of ten (10) calendar days, who would therefore not have an opportunity to otherwise view a posting, shall also be mailed copies of those postings for which they are determined eligible to apply for provided the employee has requested in writing that the appointing authority so furnish those postings. The job postings shall include the job title, salary grade, eligibility requirements and other pertinent information.~~

- B. An employee promoted in accordance with this Article whose performance is unsatisfactory may be returned to his/her previous job title under the jurisdiction of the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer**. If an employee's performance is determined to be unsatisfactory at any time during a probationary period of six (6) months such determination shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- C. If the employee so requests within two (2) weeks prior to the mid-point of the above designated probationary periods, his/her supervisor shall meet with the employee and a union representative to discuss the employee's performance in the position.
- D. At any time prior to the mid-point of the above designated probationary periods, an employee may request to return to his/her former job title under the jurisdiction of the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** and such request will be granted.
- E. In the event an employee is returned to his/her former job title, the employee displaced by such return shall be returned to his/her former job title. Where more than one position in the back filled job title was filled pursuant to this Article, the employee last selected shall be the one displaced.
- F. If an employee is returned to his/her former job title pursuant to the provision of Paragraph B of this Section, said employee will not be eligible for promotion pursuant to this Article for a period of one (1) year.

- KAC
MHL
S-1
- G. Notwithstanding the above paragraphs, employees may return to their former job titles under these provisions provided there is a position available under the jurisdiction of the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer**. In the event a position is not available under the jurisdiction of the ~~Appointing Authority Employer~~ said employee shall be covered by the layoff and recall Articles of the Agreement.
- H. All promotions made pursuant to this Article shall be temporary or provisional appointments at least until the completion of the probationary period. All vacancies resulting from an employee's promotion pursuant to this Article shall be filled temporarily or provisionally at least until the promoted employee has completed his/her probationary period.
- I. ~~It is not the intent of the Employer that the new salary plans specified in Article 12 discourage promotions from within the bargaining unit.~~

Section 14.3

An employee seeking a transfer to another work location shall submit a request for transfer to the ~~his/her Appointing Authority or his/her designee~~ **Human Resources Department**. Requests for a transfer shall be kept on file for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months from the date of submission by the employee seeking the transfer. Transfer requests not approved within this period must be resubmitted by the employee in order to remain active for consideration. Transfers shall be considered through an interview process, and where appropriate, implemented at the discretion of the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** from those applicants who can adequately perform the duties of the position.

ARTICLE 18 LAYOFF - RECALL PROCEDURE

Section 18.1 Applicability

The provisions of this Article shall apply only to non-civil service employees and shall not apply to the separation from a position by reason of the certification of a civil service list by the Chief Human Resources Officer provided, however, that the employee displaced by the use of the civil service list shall be the least senior person in the title in the work unit to which the civil service appointment or promotion is being made; and further provided that the person displaced shall have bumping rights if any as set forth in this Article.

Section 18.2 Definitions (New from MLIA)

As used in this Article seniority shall mean service rendered in the ~~Department/Agency~~ **Division**.

There shall be a single integrated seniority roster for each bargaining unit.

Division seniority shall be the length of an employee's total service within the Division. Division seniority for employees transferred to MassDOT pursuant to Chapter 25 of the Acts of 2009 shall include total service with the Department/Agency/Authority where they were employed as of October 31, 2009.

fa
8-1-

For purposes of layoff and recall seniority shall mean service rendered within a Division. The Highway Division, Registry Division, Aeronautics Division, **Rail and Transit Division** and the Office of Planning and Other Shared Services ("Shared Services"), shall be the "Divisions" for purposes of this Article.

MassDOT seniority shall be determined by the length of an employee's total service with MassDOT as determined by date of hire. Seniority for employees transferred to MassDOT pursuant to Chapter 25 of the Acts of 2009 shall include total service with the Department /Agency/Authority where the employee was employed on October 31, 2009.

Bargaining Unit seniority shall be the length of an employee's total service in a position within the bargaining unit. Bargaining Unit seniority for employees transferred to MassDOT pursuant to Chapter 25 of the Acts of 2009 shall include total service in a position within the bargaining unit with the Department/Agency/Authority where they were employed as of October 31, 2009.

An employee whose position was transferred from the former Massachusetts Turnpike Authority, the Massachusetts Port Authority or the former MassHighway to MassDOT's Shared Services Division shall have seniority within the Shared Services Division and the Highway Division for purposes of layoff.

An employee whose position was transferred from the former Registry of Motor Vehicles to MassDOT's Shared Services Division shall have seniority within the Shared Services Division and Registry Division for purposes of layoff.

Employees transferred from the former Registry of Motor Vehicles or former MassHighway to the Administrative Services Division of the former Executive Office of Transportation shall have seniority within the Division to which their original agency transferred and/or the Shared Services Division.

Where employees have equal seniority within a Division, MassDOT seniority and then Bargaining Unit seniority shall be used in order of priority.

In construing this provision the parties acknowledge that it is their intent that any employee who voluntarily left a position in any other Division to take a position in the Shared Services Division does not retain seniority in the Division they voluntarily left.

Section 18.3 Layoff/Notice to Union/Notice to Employee

In the event that Management becomes aware of an impending reduction in workforce it will make every effort to notify the Union at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the layoff. Management will notify the affected employees in writing not less than five (5) working days in advance of the layoff date. Whenever practicable affected employees will have four (4) working days to exercise their bumping rights.

KU
8-1-1

Section 18.4 Displacement-Bumping Procedure

- A. In the event there is a reduction in work force within a ~~department/agency~~ **Division** which will result in bumping and layoff, the ~~Human Resources Division~~ **Employer** will **consider** ~~encourage the department/agency to develop~~ a Voluntary Layoff Incentive program for affected employees.
- B. An employee whose position is being eliminated shall have the right to exercise his/her seniority by accepting a reassignment within the ~~Department/Agency~~ **Division**, to the position of the least senior employee in his/her job title for which the employee is qualified, **in the same region or to any other region statewide**, provided that the affected employee is less senior than the employee whose position is eliminated.
- C. Alternatively, an employee whose position is being eliminated may elect to bump to a lower title in his/her job series, or to a title outside of the employee's job series in the next lower salary grade to the employee's current salary grade, for which the employee is qualified, within his/her region, provided that there are persons with less seniority in the lower title(s). This option is limited to the least senior employee in the affected title.
- D. An employee electing to reassign/bump as set forth above, must, upon request, provide to the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** an updated resume at the time of his/her notification of his/her intention to reassign/bump.
- E. For the purpose of this Article the geographic regions shall be defined and agreed to by **the Employer and Union**. ~~HRD, the Union President of the Local affected and the appropriate representative of the Department/Agency.~~ **The Union agrees to meet with the Employer upon request to determine the geographic regions. Within the Registry of Motor Vehicles Division there shall be no more than three (3) regions.**
- F. Employees who physically work in a particular region will be included in that region for bumping, layoff and recall regardless of the office to which their position is posted.
- G. If the position of the least senior employee is a part-time position, the full time employee whose position has to be eliminated may elect to:
 - 1. accept the part time hours;
 - 2. accept reassignment to the position of the least senior full time employee;

Handwritten initials and number:
8-1-

3. be laid off

- H. The least senior full time employee who is displaced as a result of the operation of Section H.G 2 above may: 1) Accept reassignment to the position of the least senior part-time employee in the same title provided the part-time employee is less senior, 2) be laid off, or 3) exercise bumping rights.
- I. A part-time employee whose position is eliminated may accept reassignment to the position of the least senior employee in **the same title in the same region, or any other region statewide** . ~~appropriate departmental unit, region, appointing authority or statewide.~~ The part time employee unwilling or unable to accept the hours of the position of the least senior employee shall be laid off.
- J. In all of the aforementioned personnel transactions in this Article, any employee who has been notified that he/she will actually be laid off shall file with ~~his/her appointing authority,~~ **the Director of Human Resources** within four (4) working days of receipt of such notice, a written request to reassign in title, or bump down to displace other positions occupied by employees based upon their seniority and qualifications. As used in this Article, qualifications shall mean objectively demonstrable knowledge, skills, and/or abilities. Appeals of employees denied the opportunity to reassign/bump due to qualifications as defined herein shall be processed in accordance with provisions outlined in the parties' memorandum of understanding regarding Alternative Dispute Resolution dated March 14, 2005.
- K. It is agreed that the provisions of this Article do not preclude an employee from requesting and the ~~appointing authority~~ **the Employer** from granting, a voluntary layoff regardless of the employee's seniority in the ~~Department.~~ **Division** It is understood that this option of voluntary layoff shall include, but is not limited to recall rights, and payment for all accrued vacation time.

Section 18.5 Transfers

- A. Within the Department/Agency Division the employee who is to be laid off shall have the opportunity to transfer laterally to a fillable, vacant bargaining unit title, within the jurisdiction of his/her present appointing authority ~~Division~~, for which he/she is qualified.
- B. Between Agencies Divisions – the employee who is to be laid off may file a request for transfer to any **Division within MassDOT, excluding the MBTA agency in-state service.** Upon approval of that agency **Division Administrator**, such employee may be appointed to any vacancy in the bargaining unit in the same grade and title or any similar title for which he/she might meet the necessary qualifications in the same or lower salary range as the position from which he/she was laid-off. **MASSDOT** seniority shall be the determining factor in the event one or more such employees are seeking the same position in another state agency.

Section 18.6

KW
8-1-18

- A. The ~~Department/Agency~~ **Division** shall maintain a regional recall roster from which laid-off employees will be recalled, to positions to be filled, in accordance with their seniority and in accordance with their qualifications to perform the work. As soon as it is administratively feasible, the ~~Employer Commonwealth~~ shall establish and maintain a statewide recall roster.

The parties agree that individual employees who are on the recall list shall be given the opportunity to indicate the work location(s)/Areas to which they would be willing to accept to recall. It is understood that such employee would only be offered recall positions to be filled within the work locations they have indicated a willingness to accept. Failure to return a geographic preference sheet will result in consideration to recall to any location in the Department. An employee may change their geographic preference by notifying the employer in writing prior to notification of an available position in that work location/area.

- B. If the title of the employee is abolished as a result of the transfer of the functions to another ~~department/agency~~ **Division**, such employee may elect to have his/her name placed on the recall roster or to be transferred, subject to the approval of the ~~appointing authority~~ **Division Administrator**, to a similar position in such **Division** ~~department/agency~~ without loss of seniority, retirement, or other rights and in accordance with paragraph "A" above.
- C. The ~~Department/Agency~~ **Employer** shall appoint employees on the recall roster, prior to the appointment of any other applicant, to fillable vacant bargaining unit ~~TA~~ positions for which the laid off employee is determined qualified by the Employer.
- D. A laid off employee will remain on the recall roster for three (3) years except an employee who is offered recall to a position in the same job grade as the position from which he/she was laid off, and refuses such offer shall be removed from the recall list and his/her rights shall be terminated at that time.
- E. Notwithstanding the above, a laid off employee who fails to respond in writing to a notice of recall within seven (7) calendar days of the receipt of such offer or who upon acceptance of the recall offer fails to report to work on the appointed date, shall forfeit any further recall rights.
- F. Notices of the recall sent by the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** to a laid off employee and the employee's notice of acceptance, or rejection of said recall shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested.

G. Whereas the parties wish to ensure that the least senior employee is terminated first under the procedure for lay off and recall of non-civil service employees specified in Article 18, it is agreed as follows: the Employer shall appoint to permanent non-civil service vacancy the temporary employee with the most seniority within the job title within the work unit.

KA
8-1-

Section 18.7

Employees who are separated from employment as the result of the implementation of the layoff /bumping procedures and who are subsequently recalled to employment shall for purposes of determining their salary upon recall under Article 12, be credited with their prior service and shall not upon recall be considered to be "hired, reinstated or reemployed" notwithstanding the provisions of Article 12 to the contrary.

Section 18.8

In computing seniority as defined in this Article any break in service or any time off in excess of thirty (30) days shall be excluded from the total seniority except approved military, maternity, educational and industrial accident leave.

Section 18.9

The parties may, by agreement in writing, alter the implementation of this Article to meet the varying needs of the particular ~~department/agencies~~ **Division**.

ARTICLE 22 ARBITRATION OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Section 22.1

No employee who has been employed in the bargaining unit described in Article 1 of this Agreement for six (6) consecutive months or more shall be discharged, suspended, or demoted for disciplinary reasons without just cause. **The Employer may extend the probationary period for an additional three (3) months on a one time basis by providing a ten (10) day notice to the employee.** An employee who severs his/her employment with an Agency must serve an additional probationary period upon re-employment whether in the same or a different job title or the same or different agency. **Upon issuance of discipline, including demotion, suspension, or termination, the Employer will provide a copy carbon copy written notification sent to the employee to the Union.**

RW
8-1-1

**ARTICLE 23
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

Section 23.1

The term "grievance" shall mean any dispute concerning the application or interpretation of the terms of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Section 23.2

The grievance procedure shall be as follows:

Step I An employee and/or the Union shall submit a grievance in writing, on the grievance form prepared by the Employer (Appendix C) to the person designated by the Employer for such purpose not later than twenty-one (21) calendar days after the date on which the alleged act or omission giving rise to the grievance occurred or after the date on which there was a reasonable basis for knowledge of the occurrence. Such grievance shall identify the Article(s) believed to have been violated, state how and when the Article(s) was violated and state the remedy sought. The person so designated by the **Employer agency head** shall reply in writing by the end of seven (7) calendar days following the date of submission, or if a meeting is held to review the grievance by the end of twenty-one (21) calendar days following the date of the submission. **A meeting will be held upon request by either party or the matter will be waived to step II.**

Step II In the event the employee or the Union wishes to appeal an unsatisfactory decision at Step I, the appeal shall be presented in writing, on the grievance form prepared by the Employer to the Director of the Office of Employee Relations and Employment Law within ten (10) calendar days following the receipt of the Step I decision. Such grievance shall identify the Article(s) believed to have been violated, state how and when the Article(s) was violated and state the remedy sought. The **Employer agency head or his/her designee** shall meet with the ~~employee and/or~~ the Union for review of the grievance **upon request** and shall issue a written decision to the employee and/or the Union within fourteen (14) calendar days following the day the grievance is filed **or Step II conference is held whichever is later.**

Disciplinary grievances filed at Step II ~~or Step~~ of the grievance procedure, must also contain the "Waiver of Right to Appeal Disciplinary Action" form (as outlined in Article 22). Grievances not containing the signed waiver by the date of the scheduled conference or the rendering of a decision shall be considered denied.

Step III Grievances unresolved at Step II may be brought to arbitration solely by the Union by filing a completed Request for Arbitration form with the Director of Labor Relations and Employment Law . Such form must be filed within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of an unsatisfactory Step II response. Grievances that are not filed for arbitration within the thirty (30) as provided above shall be considered waived.

Handwritten initials and date:
JW
8-1-1

Section 23.4

Once arbitration has been requested by the Union a hearing shall be held no later than twelve (12) months from such request. If a hearing is not held within the twelve (12) month period due to inaction of the Union, the grievance is thereby withdrawn with prejudice but without precedence.

Section 23.5

The parties will attempt to agree on an Arbitrator on a case-by-case basis. Failing such agreement within thirty (30) days of the ~~Employer's Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law's~~ receipt of the Request for Arbitration, if the ~~Employer Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law~~ has not proposed to the Union a list of arbitrators acceptable to the ~~Employer Office of Labor Relations and Employment Law~~ the Union or if there has been no agreement on an arbitrator, the Employer or the Union may file said Request for Arbitration with the American Arbitration Association under its Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules.

Section 23.7

All fees and expenses of the arbitrator, if any, which may be involved in the arbitration proceeding shall be divided equally between the Union and Employer. Each party shall bear the cost of preparing and presenting its own case except in the case of an untimely cancellation by either of the parties, then such expense shall be borne solely by the party at fault.

Section 23.8

If a decision satisfactory to the Union at any level of the grievance procedure other than Step III is not implemented within a reasonable time, the Union may re-institute the original grievance at the next step of the grievance procedure. A resolution of a grievance at either Step I or II shall not constitute a precedent.

Section 23.9

If the Employer exceeds any time limit prescribed at any step in the grievance procedure, the grievant and/or the Union may assume that the grievance is denied and invoke the next step of the procedure, except, however, that only the Union may request impartial arbitration under Step III. However, no deadline shall be binding on the grievant and/or the Union until a required response is given.

[Handwritten signature]
8-1-

Section 23.10

In any disciplinary matter, once a conference has been held at Step II or in any non-disciplinary matter, once a conference has been held at Steps I, or II, neither party shall substantively change, modify or expand the charges, arguments, witness list or written documentation presented at that previous conference at the next step of the grievance procedure without endeavoring to give notification to the other party prior to the next scheduled conference or arbitration.

Section 23.12

The Employer shall designate a person(s) to whom grievances may be submitted at Step I and/or Step II.

Section 23.14

It is agreed that grievances may be filed by the Union electronically, either by facsimile or by email as a scanned attachment.

Section 23.15

Upon agreement of the parties, any grievance may be submitted to Alternative Grievance Resolution.

**ARTICLE 24A
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION**

Section 24A.1

The Employee Performance Review System (EPRS) shall permit variations in format between various departments. ~~and agencies.~~ There shall be no variation in format within the same ~~Department/Agency~~ **department/work unit** for the same job titles. Any format must meet the following criteria: ~~(subject to formal promulgation under M.G.L. c. 31, Sections 4 and 6A):~~

- A. All employee evaluations shall be in writing and shall be included in the employee's official personnel file. The Union shall be notified should the employee lack English proficiency to understand the evaluation and its process. All EPRS evaluations shall be based on a "Meets" expectations, "Exceeds" expectations, or "Below" expectations standard.
- B. Evaluations shall be completed by the employee's immediate state supervisor and be approved by a state supervisor of a higher grade designated by the ~~Appointing Authority~~ **Employer** (except in cases of potential conflict of interest or other legitimate reasons).
- C. A Final Formal EPRS evaluation shall be completed once per year for each member of the Bargaining Unit. Probationary employees shall be evaluated by the mid-point of their

probationary period. However, the standard EPRS program shall commence no later than the first July 1st of their employment.

Handwritten initials and marks:
M
W
8-14

- D. Prior to each evaluation period the supervisor shall meet with the employee and shall inform the employee of the general performance dimensions and procedures to be utilized in evaluating the employee's performance.
- E. The performance dimensions shall be objective and job-related.
- D. At least once during the evaluation period, at or near its mid-point, the supervisor shall meet with the employee to review the employee's progress. The employee shall have two (2) work days to review the evaluation prior to signing it. A remedial development plan shall be formulated jointly if the mid-term review results in a rating of "Below".
- E. At or near the end of the evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee and inform the employee of the results of the evaluation. Following the employee's review, the form shall be submitted to the higher level supervisor for final determination of ratings. The employee shall have two (2) work days to review the evaluation prior to signing and shall be given a copy of the completed form. The employee shall sign the evaluation and indicate whether he/she agrees or disagrees with the content thereof.

Section 24A.2

There shall be established within each agency a Labor/Management Committee, consisting of not more than four (4) representatives of each party, which shall meet at reasonable times to discuss any problems or issues surrounding the Performance Evaluation System.

Section 24A.3

- A. Any employee who has received a rating of "Below" will have his/her evaluation reviewed ~~monthly~~ by the ~~appointing authority~~ **Employer** or his/her designee, who shall review all the circumstances of the rating. The ~~appointing authority~~ **Employer** or his/her designee may redetermine the rating after reviewing the circumstances of the initial evaluation. If the ~~appointing authority~~ **Employer** or his/her designee redetermines the rating the employee will receive the increase retroactive to the date of original step increase due, or Article 12 increase, whichever is appropriate. If the ~~Employer~~ **Employer** ~~appointing authority or his/her designee~~ does not redetermine the rating the employee may file, through the NAGE Union may file within fourteen (14) days with the Human Resources Division, a request for a review of the ~~appointing authority's or his/her designee's determination~~ by an **arbitrator appointed by the Division of Labor Relations**. ~~Tripartite panel consisting of one person designated by the NAGE, one person designated by the Chief Human Resources Officer and one person designated by the Chairperson of the Board of Conciliation and Arbitration who shall be assigned on a rotating basis.~~ The standard of review to be applied by the panel shall be solely limited to whether or not the final performance rating of "Below" was justified. The decision of the

for
MCR
8-1.

~~arbitrator tripartite~~ shall be final and binding and any employee having an "Below" rating overturned shall be made whole in as prompt a manner as possible. Any costs associated with this process will be borne equally by the parties. **The arbitration shall be conducted on an expedited basis as agreed by the parties.**

- B. The **Employer** ~~Department/Agency~~ shall develop a remedial plan for an employee receiving any "Below" rating. Employees that may be nearing a "Below" rating shall be counseled by his/her supervisor as soon as possible, in advance of their final stage of the evaluation as to the specific areas that must be improved and what they must do to attain a "Meets" rating.
- C. All performance merit ratings shall be based upon the EPRS system as found in this Article ~~of the NAGE Agreement~~ and all payment of salary and/or step increases shall be based upon current language found in Article 12 related to pay for performance.
- D. All financial considerations (i.e. merit increases, step rate increases) shall be based on the employee's most recent, final annual evaluation.

Section 24A.4

~~Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as limiting in any way any other appeal rights provided by law, except that the appeal procedures provided in this Agreement shall not be available to any employee who elects to appeal his/her evaluation rating under the provisions of M.G.L. c. 31, Section 6C.~~

Section 24A.5

~~The parties agree to establish a Labor/Management Committee consisting of four (4) representatives selected by the NAGE and four (4) representatives selected by HRD. The Committee shall meet bimonthly and shall review and make recommendations concerning the Commonwealth's policies and practices regarding the review and maintenance of Personnel Records. The Committee shall also discuss problems involving the Performance Evaluation System which are unrelated to the Department/Agency Labor Management Committees established above.~~

Section 24A.6

The parties agree to establish a Labor/Management Committee to review and make recommendations to **the Director of Human Resources** to revise the Performance Evaluation Guidelines/Form. Said Committee shall consist of three (3) representatives selected by the Union and three (3) representatives selected by ~~HRD~~ **the Employer** and ~~The Committee shall convene and shall continue to meet upon request by either party.~~

TIN
MUR
8-1-1

**ARTICLE 30
WAGE REOPENER (NEW)**

In the event that during the term of this Agreement a Collective Bargaining Agreement is submitted by either the Governor, or the Secretary for Administration & Finance and said Agreement is funded by the Legislature and in the event such Agreement contains provisions for across-the-board salary increases or other economic terms that in the aggregate are in excess of those contained in this Agreement, the parties agree to re-open those provisions of this Agreement to further bargaining.

**ARTICLE 31
DURATION**

This Agreement shall be for the three-year period from July 1, 2014 ~~2017~~ to June 30, 2012 ~~2020~~ and terms contained herein shall become effective upon execution unless otherwise specified. It is expressly understood and agreed that subject to ratification by the ~~NAGE~~ Union Membership, the predecessor collective bargaining agreement shall be voided and superseded by all aspects of this collective bargaining agreement. Should a successor Agreement not be executed by June 30, 2017, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until a successor Agreement is executed or an impasse in negotiations is reached. At the written request of either party, negotiations for a subsequent Agreement will be commenced on or after January 1, 2017 ~~2020~~.

NEW ARTICLE

INSTALLATION AND USE OF GPS DEVICES ON MASSDOT VEHICLES

The Employer may in its sole discretion install Global Position Satellites or other similar devices in any of its vehicles and use the information obtained from any such device for any employment related purpose without limitation, except to conduct live surveillance of employees for the purpose of monitoring time and attendance. The Employer will notify the Union prior to installing any such devices and notify the Union to the extent that any such devices are currently in use or have been previously installed.

RELOCATION (MLIA)

As a general rule, MassDOT will not involuntarily relocate any of its employees to another work location that is more than ~~thirty~~ **forty-five** miles from his/her current work location. **Distance between work locations shall be measured in road miles using the shortest route as determined by Google Maps or other similar mapping application as may be agreed by the parties.** For purposes of this provision, work location shall mean the location at which the employee customarily reports to work. Should management decide that operational needs require the involuntary relocation of an employee more than ~~thirty~~ **forty-five** miles from his/her current work location MassDOT will do so from among the pool of qualified employees within the classification needed to relocate in the reverse order of seniority, ~~provided that any employee so relocated shall not be relocated beyond an adjacent district, and further provided that any such employee so relocated will be returned to his former work location as soon as operational needs permit.~~ This Article shall not apply to employees assigned as resident engineers or inspectors; the assignment and reassignment of such employees shall be subject to the applicable collective bargaining agreement and to established practice thereunder. This Article shall apply to ~~Units B, C, D and E and to Highway Division employees in Unit A, shall prevail over any conflicting provision, and shall be subject to the grievance arbitration procedure contained in the collective bargaining agreements applicable to the bargaining unit.~~

Full
text
8-1-

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
BETWEEN THE ~~COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS~~ DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION
AND
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
FOR BARGAINING UNIT A

*for
MML
8-1 ✓*

Current employees with less than 4.5 years of creditable service as of the date of this MOU may, upon the approval of the Employer, begin accruing vacation credits at the rate of 9.375 hours (37.5/week) or 10.000 hours (40/week).

To be eligible, employees must have had at least 4.5 years of relevant work history prior to commencement of employment with the Commonwealth. **Prior relevant work history is work experience in the same or a related field or profession using the same or similar skills and having the same or similar level of responsibility.**

Employees must apply within 6 months of the implementation of the parties' Collective Bargaining Agreement, on a form to be supplied by the **Employer** ~~Appointing Authority~~. If approved, the commencement of the enhanced vacation accrual will be effective January 1, 2019. If the employee fails to file a request within the allotted six months, he/she shall be eligible to receive enhanced vacation accrual on a prospective basis. If the employees' vacation accrual is changed, the employees will remain at this rate until they reach 9.5 years of creditable service with the ~~Commonwealth~~ **Employer**.

Grievances of an ~~Appointing Authority's~~ **the Employer's** denial of accelerated vacation accrual may be processed in an expedited Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) hearing upon request by the Union.

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
AND
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
FOR BARGAINING UNIT A**

*for
MMA
8-1-1*

Transfer of Accruals and Credible Service for Vacation and Sick Time

The parties agree that the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Guidelines for the Transfer of Benefits issued by the Human Resources Division, a copy of which is attached hereto shall be applied to bargaining unit employees and remain in effect until the Commonwealth amends, modifies or revokes them.

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
AND
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
FOR BARGAINING UNIT A**

FW
MLK
8-1-1

Accrual of Compensatory Time Registry of Motor Vehicles

Upon the declaration of an emergency, the Registrar of Motor Vehicles may suspend the option to elect compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay as provided in Article 7.2 (G). The emergency may not extend beyond ninety (90) days and shall not be repeated for at least six months following the end of the previous emergency.

The Employer may deny an individual employee the option of accruing compensatory time if the employee has a clear pattern of using compensatory time upon less than 48 hours notice.

FL
81

**MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
AND
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
FOR BARGAINING UNIT A**

**Renegotiation of Vacation Policy Agreement
Registry of Motor Vehicles**

The parties agree to meet on or before December 31, 2018 to negotiate modifications to the Vacation Policy Agreement (undated) between the National Association of Government Employees (“NAGE”) and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Registry of Motor Vehicles.

GUIDELINES FOR TRANSFER OF BENEFITS

The following Guidelines cover basic questions that agencies typically have about what credit for prior service an employee can receive toward vacation and sick leave upon transfer from a public agency into a classified position subject either to collective bargaining or the Red Book. If an employee is leaving classified service to go to another public agency not subject to our rules, the rules of that public agency determine what benefits may be transferred. In such instances, refer the employee to the agency to which he or she is transferring.

General Issues

- To answer questions about transfer of benefits, you need to know what type of public agency the employee is coming from (state authority, local authority, Higher Education, legislature, municipality), and what type of classified position he/she is going into (management, collective bargaining, confidential). You also need to know if there has been a break in service of less than three years between the two jobs; if the break is three years or more, employees cannot get any credit at all.
- “Vacation status” is the credit for time previously worked that determines the rate at which an employee earns vacation in a classified position. For example, if the employee had five years of service in a city or town upon entering the classified position, he or she can begin earning vacation at the rate of 15 days per year.
- “Vacation and sick leave credits” are those unused leave balances earned in the previous job that may, under some circumstances, be brought into the classified job. Our rules limit the amount of such credits employees can actually bring over. Employees seeking these credits must complete a Transfer Form and send it in to HRD. The Red Book was revised in November 1999 to and allows for the transfer of these credits.



 GA

 MFL

 8-1-

- Questions about "creditable service" for retirement purposes should be referred to the State Retirement Board. Such credit is allowed and calculated according to the rules set forth in Chapter 32 of the General Laws; "creditable service" and breaks in service for retirement purposes are thus figured differently than they would be for sick/vacation purposes.
- State and local authorities include Massport, MBTA, MWRA, Mass. Turnpike Authority, Mass. Housing Finance Agency, and local Housing Authorities. These are public agencies whose funding does not come from the Appropriation Act.
- Constitutional and Independent Offices include the Secretary of State, State Auditor, Inspector General, Treasurer, State Ethics Commission, Office of Campaign and Political Finance.
- Higher Education includes Board of Higher Education, University of Mass. and all state and community colleges.

Transfer from:	Managers/confidentials (see Red Book)	Collective Bargaining
Federal Government	No credit	No credit
Other States	No credit	No credit
Mass. Cities, Towns and Counties	Vacation status only	Vacation status only
Mass. State and Local Authorities	Vacation status only	Vacation status only
Legislative Branch, Governor's and Lt. Governor's Offices	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits	Vacation status and sick leave credits only
Judicial Branch	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits	Vacation status only
Constitutional and Independent Offices (including Counties that have officially become state agencies)	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits	Vacation status only
District Attorneys' Offices	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits	Vacation status only
Higher Education	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits	Vacation status only
Other classified positions, and certain managerial unclassified positions (e.g. Cabinet Secretaries, Undersecretaries, etc.)	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits*	Vacation status, vacation credits and sick leave credits*

* If break in service is 3 years or more, see Red Book or contract for special conditions under which Personnel Administrator can approve re-crediting of prior time for reemployment/reinstatement.

KA
M
8-1-

*KA
TMM
8-1-*

ADDENDUM A

BARGAINING UNIT A TITLES

Administrative Secretary I
Administrative Secretary II
Bookkeeper I
Bookkeeper II
Clerk I
Clerk II
Clerk III
Clerk IV
Clerk V
Clerk VI
Computer Operator I
Computer Operator II
Customer Service Rep I, RMV
Customer Service Rep II, RMV
Customer Service Rep III, RMV
Customer Service Rep IV, RMV
Customer Service Rep I, HWY
Customer Service Rep II, HWY
Customer Service Rep III, HWY
Customer Service Rep IV, HWY
EDP Entry Operator I
EDP Entry Operator II
EDP Entry Operator III
EDP Entry Operator IV
EDP Scheduler
Field Investigator I
Field Investigator II
Field Investigator III
Field Investigator IV
Inventory Control Coordinator I
Inventory Control Coordinator II
Mail Clerk II
Mail Clerk III
Office Support Specialist I
Office support Specialist II
Receiving Teller I
Receiving Teller II
Records Analyst
Reproduction Services Supervisor
Title Review Officer
Typist I
Typist II

Warehouse Supervisor I
Warehouse Supervisor II
Word Processing Operator I
Word Processing Operator II

ph
7/11
8/1-1

Massachusetts Department of Transportation

National Association of Government
Employees, Local R1-292

Handwritten signature
8-1-

By: _____

By: _____

Maria C. Rota, Acting Director
Office of Labor Relations and
Employment Law

John Mann, President

Date: _____

Date: _____